IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v. Case No.: 81,824

/

RICHARD PAUL CONDON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

RICHARD P. CONDON Respondent, pro se Suite C 214 C Bullard Parkway Temple Terrace, FL 33617 (813) 985-3467

Statement of Case.	
Argument	
	THE REFEREE'S CONCLUSION THAT DISBARMENT IS APPROPRIATE IS WITHOUT SUPPORT IN THE EVIDENCE
Conclusion	
Certificate of Ser	vice

Table of Cases

Doe v. Region 13 Mental Health-Mental Retardation Commission, 704 F.2d 1402 (5th Cir. 1983).....18 Pridemore v. Rural Legal Aid Society of West Central Ohio, 625 F.Supp. 1180 (S.D. Ohio 1985).....18 The florida Bar v. Burke, 578 So.2d 1099 (Fla 1991).....16 The Florida Bar v. Condon, 632 So.2d 70 (Fla 1994).....26,27 <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> Hi<u>rsch</u>, 359 So.2d 846 (Fla 1978).....20 The Florida Bar v. Lancaster, 448 So.2d 1019 (Fla 1984).16,20 The Florida Bar v. McKenzie, 442 So.2d 934 (Fla 1983).....20 The Florida Bar v. Rood, 622 So.2d 974 (Fla 1993).....16 The Florida Bar v. Simring, 612 So.2d 561 (Fla 1993).....16 The Florida Bar v. Weiss, 586 So.2d 1051 (Fla 1991)....15,16 Ruggero J. Aldisert, Logic for Lawyers: A Guide to Clear Legal Thinking, New York: Clark Boardman Co. (1989)....19,21 American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 222-23 (3rd ed. revised 1980),,.....8,17 G. Andrew H. Benjamin, Elaine J. Darling, and Bruce Sales. "The prevalence of depression, alcohol abuse, and cocaine abuse among United States Lawyers", 13 International Journal of Law and Psychiatry, 233-246, 240 G.A.H. Benjamin, A. Kaszniak, B. Sales and S.B. Shanfield, "The role of legal education in producing psychological distress among law students and lawyers," American Bar Foundation Research Journal, 225-252, (1986)..17 J.H. Boyd and M.M. Weisman, "Epidemiology of affective disorders," 38 Archives of General Psychiatry, 1039-1044 Winston W. Little, W. Harold Wilson, W. Edgar Moore, Applied

Symbols and References

The following symbols and references will be used in this brief:

1T: Transcript of hearing of September 29, 1993

2T: Transcript of hearing of December 1, 1993

Depo: Deposition of December 30, 1992, of Joseph Rawlings, M.D.

RR: Report of Referee dated January 14, 1994

Statement of Case

On or about December 3, 1991, Larry T. Freeman filed a sworn Florida Bar Complaint against Respondent. On or about January 5, 1993, Pedro J. Pizarro, Branch Staff Auditor for the Florida Bar, conducted an audit of Respondent's trust account records relating to the Freeman funds from July, 1985 through June, 1991.

On or about February 10, 1993, the Thirteenth Judicial Circuit Grievance Committee "A" found probable cause for further disciplinary proceedings.

Respondent was charged with violation of the following Rules Regulating The Florida Bar:

> Rule 4-1.15(a) (A lawyer shall hold in trust, separate from the lawyer's own property, funds and property of clients or third persons that are in a lawyer's possession in connection with a representation),

Rule 4.1.15(b) (Upon receiving funds or other property in which a client or third person has an interest, a lawyer shall promptly notify the client or third person),

Rule 4-1.15(c) (When in the course of representation a lawyer is in possession of property in which both the lawyer and another person claim interests, the property shall be treated by the lawyer as trust property),

Rule 5-1.1(a) (Money or other property entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose, is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose).

Pasco County Judge William G. Sestak, was appointed Referee; testimony was taken on September 29, 1993, and December 1, 1993. On January 18, 1994, the Referee filed his

report, finding respondent not guilty of the following count:

Rule 4.1.15(b) (Upon receiving funds or other property in which a client or third person has an interest, a lawyer shall promptly notify the client or third person),

The Referee found the Respondent guilty of the following counts:

Rule 4-1.15(a) (A lawyer shall hold in trust, separate from the lawyer's own property, funds and property of clients or third persons that are in a lawyer's possession in connection with a representation),

Rule 4-1.15(c) (When in the course of representation a lawyer is in possession of property in which both the lawyer and another person claim interests, the property shall be treated by the lawyer as trust property),

Rule 5-1.1(a) (Money or other property entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose, is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose).

The Referee recommended disbarment.

A Petition for review of Referee's Report was timely filed.

Statement of Facts

RICHARD PAUL CONDON was admitted to the Florida Bar on November 13, 1970.

Respondent had an ongoing attorney client relationship with Larry Freeman since the early 1970's. [1T:118] The relationship started first with representation in a bad check case and later in a carrying concealed weapon charge. When FREEMAN began bail bond work, CONDON handled his estreature work. [1T:149:4-11] Later CONDON loaned FREEMAN money to open his own bail bond and insurance business [1T:149:22-25] and assisted FREEMAN in a marital matter [1T:151:2-7]

CONDON and FREEMAN had only minimal contact between 1979 CONDON and 1985.

In 1980 LARRY and MARAS FREEMAN, his wife, executed and delivered to AMERICAN METROPOLITAN MORTGAGE COMPANY a second mortgage on their homestead. The note indicated that the interest rate was eighteen percent. The note and mortgage were allegedly transferred to AMERICAN FUNDING. [Complainant's Exhibit 17]

In 1983, FREEMAN was, in FREEMAN's words, "set up in a sting operation and charged with getting stolen property." He received an eight thousand dollars fine, five year probation, one year of community control, and five hundred hours of community service. He lost his right to sell insurance or write bonds; he was unemployed for the next three years. [1T:116:5-117:13]

During this period, FREEMAN was also sued by Charles

Bernard Rogers [1T:155:3-6]. However, prior to that time, FREEMAN had placed all of his real property in the names of other people. [1T:161:1-4]. His homestead was only in his wife's name.

During this same time, CONDON was having his own set of problems. In 1979 he left the practice of law to attend graduate school. [2T:96:9] In 1981 he was hospitalized in Chicago for depression, a problem that was taken a year later to the Mayo Clinic in Rochester, Minnesota. The Mayo Clinic determined that the problem was depression* and stress, proscribing imipramine. [2T:98:13-99:3] CONDON had been suffering from some form of peculiarity (now identified for the first time in his life as "depression") from at least the time of his law school career. [2T:97:21-24]

CONDON remained on imipramine for two years and returned to the practice of law. When he stopped taking the medication, the depression returned after six months. CONDON sought out a psychiatrist who placed him back on the medication. [2T:99:1-9]

In 1985 the FREEMANS came to CONDON with a summons and complaint from AMERICAN FUNDING in which the plaintiff was attempting to foreclose on its eighteen percent note and mortgage. CONDON told MR. FREEMAN that he did not believe

^{*} According to the American Psychiatric Association, <u>Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders</u>, 222-23 (3rd ed. revised 1980), the signs of depression are: change in appetite and weight, sleep disturbance, loss of energy, change in anxiety level, decreased sex drive, diminished ability to think or concentrate, feelings of worthlessness or excessive guilt, and recurrent thoughts of self-harm.

the note was usurious. [1T:127:7-8] However, CONDON stated that he was not able to personally do the mathematics necessary to correctly determine the interest rate because of his inexperience with the "Rule of 78's." [2T:71:8-14] This foreclosure action was resolved by FREEMAN paying over money received by selling money hidden in the equity of property titled in FREEMAN's mother's name. [2T:12:24-13:7]

In 1986 FREEMANS once again got behind on their AMERICAN FUNDING debt; through CONDON a Chapter 13 was filed. However, the protective stay was subsequently lifted on when the FREEMANS got behind on their post-petition mortgage payments (adequate protection). A second mortgage foreclosure [87-19351-0] was filed in October of 1987. [Complainant's Exhibit 10].

About this time, CONDON received payment of a bill of \$7,500.00 in one hundred dollar bills from a client. For whatever reason, CONDON was ambivalent about keeping the cash. He put the money in a can. As time passed, he would gave FREEMAN (and others) cash from the can. [2T:107:4-22]

According to FREEMAN, his practice was to use the mortgage money for other purposes and wait for as long as six months to catch up on the house payments. [1T:204:22-25] Because of that practice, in April of 1988, CONDON insisted that the money be escrowed with CONDON. The purpose was to guarantee payment of debts. The debts were to both CONDON and AMERICAN FUNDING LIMITED. When there would be an opportunity

to have the mortgage reinstated, the money would be there to complete the reinstatement. [1T:121:15-24] Corresponding to that was a pledge of the amount of the escrow toward payment to CONDON of future fees if FREEMAN chose not to reinstate the mortgage. [2T:22:19-25]

At Final Hearing on October 31, 1988, AMERICAN FUNDING did not prevail and judgment in favor of the FREEMANS was granted, AMERICAN FUNDING having failed to prove that the FREEMANS were behind in payments prior to the filing of the action by AMERICAN FUNDING. [1T:172:5-7; 1T:197:4-9]

In early 1988, CONDON had stopped taking his medication; by April of 1990 when his friend and mentor died, CONDON hit bottom. [2T:99] In May of 1990 he was placed on a regimen of prozac; in December of 1991, he was diagnosed as also having a partial complex seizure disorder; the drug tegretol was prescribed in addition to the prozac.

A third mortgage foreclosure [89-12907-J] was filed against FREEMAN by AMERICAN FUNDING on June 16, 1989. The case was assigned to Judge PADGETT. An answer consisting of a general denial was filed by CONDON on behalf of FREEMAN. After FREEMAN provided a financial expert who said that the note was usurious [1T:213:1-7], the defense of usury was added in an amended answer. [1T:128:15-18]. Later Freeman procured a second expert that the loan was usurious.

Between October of 1989 and January of 1990, GARY SIEGEL replaced DOUG ZAHM [1T:11:17-19] as counsel for AMERICAN FUNDING. CONDON was in communication with SIEGEL about

determining whether the usury claim was correct and stating that \$11,103.00 was in escrow. [Complainant's Exhibit 2]

On August 30, 1990, the FREEMANS in two separate affidavits acknowledged owing CONDON the sum of \$11,280.00 in attorney's fees in defense of the mortgage foreclosures. [Respondent's Exhibit 5] At this time, CONDON believed that FREEMAN had pledged the amount of the escrow toward payment of these fees. [2T:22:19-25]

At this point in time, CONDON's financial records were confused. [1T:28:21-29:5]. Part of the problem was created by wrongly written receipts [2T:37:4-10]; part was created by a duplication of receipts [2T:39:14-18]; part was created by the confusion of frequent Bar audits [2T:82:19-83:4]; part was created by the Bar physically being in possession of CONDON's records [2T:58:11-16]; part was, perhaps, created by the manipulations of others, a problem to which CONDON was susceptible [Depo:30:9-11].

CONDON'S client ledger cards indicate that between April 22, 1988, and June 1, 1993, \$6,439.44 was received from the FREEMANS. [2T:37, 45-52] A January 5, 1993, Bar audit indicates that the total deposit by the FREEMANS was \$5,036.44; a September 24, 1993, Bar re-audit indicates that the total deposit by the FREEMANS was \$6,283.44. [1T246:13-21] The respondent, by recreating the deposits based on his receipts ledger, guessed the amount to be \$8,500.59 [1T:38:4]; one lawyer claims that the sum was \$10,222.59 [1T:41:18]; another claims the sum to be \$11,103 [1T:14;6].

However all claims are based upon reviews of CONDON's records. Personally, CONDON believed that the funds were not to be found. He so informed the client on several occasions. [1T:142:23-24 and 1T:143:22-144:12]

Subsequently, CONDON began keeping his accounts on computer with reconciliation by three people every month. [2T:104:5-7]

On November 13, 1990, there was a hearing on AMERICAN FUNDING'S motion for summary judgment; the judge continued the hearing to get more evidence in the form of amortization schedules. [1T:32:25-33:8] CONDON had not yet played his "ace in the hole" which was that the mortgage was not vested in AMERICAN FUNDING. [2T:13:25-14:14]

FREEMAN was present for the January 8, 1991, hearing before Judge PADGETT.*

On January 7, 1991, the day before the continued summary judgment hearing, FREEMAN fired CONDON [2T53:22-54:3]. While FREEMAN claimed CONDON had done nothing for him [1T:206:18-20], counsel for AMERICAN FUNDING said that he had to do quite a bit of research with regard to the defenses raised by CONDON in the case. [1T:23:19-22]

The situation of CONDON's discharge was duly reported to Judge PADGETT at the hearing the next day. The Judge asked FREEMAN if he had a new lawyer. When FREEMAN responded in

^{*}It must be noted, however, that the record carries statements by FREEMAN that he never saw a judge other than Judge Spicola concerning the mortgage foreclosure [1T:158:15-17].

the negative, the Judge asked when the new lawyer would be appearing. The Judge considered the proffered evidence on interest rates and, six days later, signed a final judgment of foreclosure. [2T:54:10-24] Counsel for AMERICAN FUNDING was awarded a fee of \$9,150.00 in the summary judgment. [Complainant's exhibit 3, page 2]

MUSIAL, the new counsel for the FREEMANs, subsequently appeared. [Compare 1T:219:4-7 and 1T:53:4]

When the new counsel for the FREEMANS came to CONDON'S office to pick up the money, CONDON stated that if he released the money, he would never get paid; he was, therefore, impressing a lien. [1T:61:13-17]

When the new lawyer requested that Judge PADGETT order the release the funds, the Judge refused to require a turn over. [1T:44:25-45:11] The new lawyer then filed another Chapter 13 for the FREEMANS. [1T:48:2-4] FREEMAN thereafter made two attempts to claim the liened money through the bankruptcy court; each attempt being rejected by the bankruptcy court. [1T:55:3-5] Immediately after the defeat of the second attempt, there was a settlement conference between CONDON and FREEMAN and MUSIAL at the bankruptcy court. It was agreed that CONDON would distribute \$5,000.00 on behalf of FREEMAN. [1T:51:4-23] CONDON and FREEMAN also spoke frankly to resolve some personal issues; when it was over, they hugged. [1T:59:6-17]

Subsequently, CONDON's lawyer and MUSIAL prepared a settlement instrument. [1T:57:5-8] To FREEMAN this document

"means he's released from any claims." [1T:225:22-24] Complainant's Exhibit 9 May 12, 1992. To FREEMAN's lawyer it "was a good faith settlement offer, a settlement compromise of a controversy between his attorney and his client." [1T:58:20-22]

Argument

Number One: THE REFEREE'S CONCLUSION THAT DISBARMENT IS APPROPRIATE IS WITHOUT SUPPORT IN THE EVIDENCE

The Referee recommended a finding of guilt against CONDON for three specific trust account rule violations:

> Rule 4-1.15(a) (A lawyer shall hold in trust, separate from the lawyer's own property, funds and property of clients or third persons that are in a lawyer's possession in connection with a representation),

Rule 4-1.15(c) (When in the course of representation a lawyer is in possession of property in which both the lawyer and another person claim interests, the property shall be treated by the lawyer as trust property),

Rule 5-1.1(a) (Money or other property entrusted to an attorney for a specific purpose, is held in trust and must be applied only to that purpose).

The referee then goes on to recommend disbarment as punishment.

Disbarment, however, is an punishment only with a specific finding of intentionality.

In imposing discipline for trust account violations, clear distinction is made between cases where the lawyer's conduct is deliberate or intentional and cases where the lawyer acts in a negligent or grossly negligent manner. <u>The Florida Bar v. Weiss</u>, 586 So.2d 1051 (Fla 1991). This is augmented by the <u>Lawyer Sanction Standards</u>. Of these, in matters involving failure to preserve client property, Section 4.11 requires disbarment after a finding of intention or knowledge, regardless of injury; Section 4.12 requires

suspension after a finding that the lawyer knew or should have known that he/she was dealing improperly with client funds and there was injury or potential of injury; Section 4.13 requires a reprimand for negligence with injury or potential for injury; Section 4.14 requires an admonishment for negligence with little or no injury. In the absence of a specific finding of specific misconduct, a referee's recommendation in a disciplinary proceedings that an attorney be found guilty of the Bar's allegation to that specific misconduct can not be adopted. <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Lancaster</u>, 448 So.2d 1019, 1023 (Fla 1984).

The facts brought at the trial of this matter establish that (1) CONDON had stopped taking his medication during the time of the escrow deposits; (2) FREEMAN is motivated to some degree by the Client's Security Fund [1T:223:4-10]; (3) FREEMAN's dismissal of CONDON compromised his own case, bringing injury upon himself; and (4) CONDON and FREEMAN have resolved their dispute concerning fees and escrow and pledge balances. The Referee's Report made no specific finding of injury to anyone.

The Bar has the burden of proving that the attorney is guilty of specific rule violations. <u>The Florida Bar v. Rood</u>, 622 So.2d 974, 977 (Fla 1993), citing <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Weiss</u>, 586 So.2d 1051 (Fla 1991). This burden must be carried by proof that is clear and convincing. <u>The Florida</u> <u>Bar v. Simring</u>, 612 So.2d 561, 565 (Fla 1993), citing to The <u>Florida Bar v. Burke</u>, 578 So.2d 1099 (Fla 1991).

The ability to make a clear and convincing case of intentionality is negated by the record which establishes that (a) CONDON was suffering from a medically recognized disability, a trait of which is a diminished ability to think or concentrate, (b) CONDON was consistent in his attempt to correct the errors caused by his disability, and (c) the Bar relies upon a logical error in its presentation to the Court. (a) Disability

It has been established that CONDON suffers from the illness of depression. CONDON's illness is identified with a trait of diminished ability to think or concentrate and this interfered with his performance of his accounting function. Other signs of the illness are change in appetite and weight, sleep disturbance, loss of energy, change in anxiety level, decreased sex drive, diminished ability to think or concentrate, feelings of worthlessness or excessive guilt, and recurrent thoughts of self-harm. See: American Psychiatric Association, <u>Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of</u> Mental Disorders, 222-23 (3rd ed. revised 1980).

Only three to nine percent of individuals in Western industrialized countries suffer from depression. [J.H. Boyd and M.M. Weisman, "Epidemiology of affective disorders," 38 <u>Archives of General Psychiatry</u>, 1039-1044 (1981)] However, nineteen percent of lawyers suffer from significantly elevated levels of depression. Five percent of lawyers are both depressed and alcohol abusers. [G. Andrew H. Benjamin, Elaine J. Darling, and Bruce Sales, "The

prevalence of depression, alcohol abuse, and cocaine abuse among United States lawyers", 13 <u>International Journal of Law</u> <u>and Psychiatry</u>, 233-246, 240 (1990)] While only ten percent of law student are depressed before matriculation, depression affects thirty-two to forty percent of first and third law school students. [G.A.H. Benjamin, A. Kaszniak, B. Sales and S.B. Shanfield, "The role of legal education in producing psychological distress among law students and lawyers," <u>American Bar Foundation Research Journal</u>, 225-252, (1986)]

Depression is recognized as a handicap entitled to protection from job discrimination. <u>Pridemore v. Rural</u> <u>Legal Aid Society of West Central Ohio</u>, 625 F.Supp. 1180 (S.D. Ohio 1985); <u>Doe v. Region 13 Mental Health-Mental</u> <u>Retardation Commission</u>, 704 F.2d 1402 (5th Cir. 1983). (b) <u>Consistent effort to correct errors</u>

The record reflects that CONDON did and redid his FREEMAN's ledger in an attempt to trace his money and pay the debt. At one point every penny received went into the accounting. CONDON was working on a correct record up until the Bar impounded CONDON's files.

(c) Frustration caused by the Bar

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