097

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

RICHARD P. CONDON,

Respondent,

Case No. 81,824

TFB No. 92-10,821(13A)

FILED

JUL 18 19941

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By____

Chief Deputy Clerk

COMPLAINANT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Thomas E. DeBerg
Assistant Staff Counsel
The Florida Bar
Suite C-49
Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel
Tampa, Florida 33607
(813) 875-9821
Atty. No. 521515

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

- I. The referee's findings of fact are supported by competent, substantial evidence and therefore are considered to be conclusive. Respondent has acknowledged being unable to account for money entrusted to him. Conversion is also evidenced by witness testimony, bank statements, client ledger cards and letters to opposing counsel. The evidence also clearly establishes that Respondent lied repeatedly to conceal his misappropriations.
- II. The referee's recommendation of disbarment is appropriate under the case law and Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions. Respondent's judgment was not so impaired throughout the period of misconduct that the presumption of disbarment for misappropriation is overcome. The amount of trust money in his trust account during the time in question was minimal, and only a simple comparison of a bank statement to the Freeman client ledger card was necessary to show the misuse of trust funds. Even long after resuming medication for treatment of depression and while in therapy, Respondent misrepresented to opposing counsel that the Freeman money was still in escrow. He has presented false evidence to The Florida Bar Auditor, to attorneys, and to the Freemans before and after returning to treatment. His conduct demonstrates a pattern of knowing conversion and deceit.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS OF FACT ARE SUPPORTED BY COMPETENT, SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AND THEREFORE ARE CONSIDERED TO BE CONCLUSIVE.

Respondent contends that the Referee's findings of fact are unsupported by the record. For example, he suggests that the Referee concluded there should have been \$9,500.00 in the trust account, but that the conclusion is based on Freeman's testimony, which is based in large part on the statement of others. Respondent goes on to say that the estimates of what should have been in trust are based upon defective data input from Condon (Respondent) since they are based on reviews of Condon's record.

Respondent argues that there is nothing to support the Referee's conclusion as to any amount of trust funds other than \$5,000.00 agreed to in settlement of a civil dispute between Mr. Freeman and Respondent over alleged fees owed to Respondent and the missing escrow funds. His argument is without merit. Respondent's letters to opposing counsel in the American Funding Limited case, his lists of amounts of escrow monies received, testimony of the Freemans and receipts provided by them, all clearly support an amount in excess of the \$5,000.00. Mr. Freeman testified that he only settled with Respondent for \$5,000.00 because he was running out of money to pay his attorney in the civil case. He stated in clear and strong terms that he did not feel that he had received back all of the escrow money taken from him by Respondent. (TR1, p.137, L.11-22). In fact, he testified that Respondent had agreed to be paid for the mortgage foreclosure case where usury was the

defense only if attorney fees were obtained from the other side.

There is other evidence that the amount converted was \$5,000.00 and more. The Bar Auditor located \$6,203.44 of the Freeman money, which had been deposited almost equally into a trust account and an operating account. He was unable to find another \$3,939.15 which, based on the Freeman records and Condon records, should have been in trust. Regardless of the precise amount misappropriated, Respondent converted several thousand dollars. In fact, long before the settlement agreement to pay back \$5,000 of the Freeman money, Respondent had converted every penny of the Freeman escrow money that had made it into Respondent's client trust account.

Further evidence supports the referee's findings of conversion. On July 18, 1989, Counsel for American Funding Limited, Douglas Zahm, made a written settlement offer to Respondent. In response to that offer, Respondent prepared a letter of acceptance which purportedly had enclosed with it a trust account check for \$9,500. The addressee of the letter, Douglas Zahm never received the letter nor did he receive any trust monies from Respondent. Nevertheless Respondent advised the Freemans that he had sent the letter and the trust monies. (RR p.2).

Respondent objects to the Referee's acceptance of Mr. Freeman's testimony that he took \$1,000.00 in cash to Respondent after Mr. Freeman was advised of the settlement offer for \$9,500.00 and that there was only \$8,500.00 in trust. (RB, p.21-22). Respondent argues that this is clearly false testimony because it

is in conflict with Complainant's Exhibit 19, which indicates three (3) escrow payments were made by the Freemans after the date of the settlement letter. The existence of these payments supposedly refutes the finding that there had been a settlement offer or perhaps settlement agreement. However, the three (3) payments following the July, 1989 offer of settlement are not inconsistent with the existence of the settlement offer or even of an agreement. Certainly the wisdom of continuing to make mortgage payments into escrow until there was a written acceptance of the offer is clear. In fact, Mr. Freeman testified that for a period of six months, Respondent lead him to believe that the settlement offer had in fact not been accepted, but that the money had been tendered. absence of hard evidence in Respondent's records of his receipt of this \$1,000.00 is also not proof that the event did not occur, given that numerous escrow payments made by the Freemans to Respondent were not deposited into trust.

In January, 1991, the Freemans hired new counsel, A.J. Musial, Jr. Respondent first verbally advised Musial that the Freemans had money in trust with him (RR p.2), then in February, 1991, after Attorney Musial wrote a letter to Respondent to verify the trust amount (RR p.2-3), Respondent sent escrow statements to Musial falsely indicating the money was in trust. When he was corresponding with Attorney Musial, Respondent believed the balance in the Freeman trust account was zero. (RR p.3). Respondent intentionally misled and lied to the Freemans and Attorney Musial regarding the trust monies provided to him. (RR p.3).

Respondent objects to the Referee's conclusion that the Freeman money was to be held only for mortgage payments. He indicates that this is contrary to his testimony concerning a pledge of escrow funds to guarantee his fees. (RB p.25). Even if at some point Respondent had exerted a valid lien on the escrow funds, he would have been unable to appropriate those funds to his own use without court order or approval of the Freemans. But there was no agreement to allow Respondent to spend, use, or seize as a guarantee for fees the monies which had been escrowed. (TR1, p.123, L.24-p.124, L.15). Even under one of Respondent's own versions of what occurred it was after he discovered the Freeman money was not in trust that he began to conclude that he had a lien on the money.

The Freemans gave Respondent money to be escrowed for their mortgage payments. (RR p.4). Clearly the money was misappropriated. (RR p.5). There is substantial competent evidence to support the referee's findings of fact, therefore the findings of fact are considered to be conclusive. The Florida Bar v. Anderson, 594, So. 2d 302(Fla. 1992).

ARGUMENT

II. THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION OF DISBARMENT IS APPROPRIATE UNDER THE CASE LAW AND STANDARDS FOR IMPOSING LAWYER SANCTIONS. RESPONDENT'S JUDGMENT WAS NOT SO IMPAIRED THROUGHOUT THE PERIOD OF MISCONDUCT THAT THE PRESUMPTION OF DISBARMENT FOR MISAPPROPRIATION IS OVERCOME. HIS CONDUCT DEMONSTRATES A PATTERN OF KNOWING CONVERSION AND DECEIT. FURTHER, AGGRAVATING FACTORS OUTWEIGH ANY MITIGATION.

The Florida Supreme Court has repeatedly held that misuse of client trust funds is one of the most serious offenses a lawyer can commit. The Florida Bar v. Shanzer, 572 So. 2d 1382, 1383 (Fla. 1991). In any case of misappropriation of client funds, the presumption is that disbarment is the appropriate discipline. Id. In the overwhelming majority of recent cases, attorneys who have misappropriated client funds have been disbarred notwithstanding mitigating evidence. Id.

At the same time, this Court has rejected arguments that disbarment for misappropriation should be automatic. In determining whether disbarment is appropriate, the Court has recognized that drug, alcohol, or mental problems may impair judgment so as to diminish culpability. <u>Id</u>. at 1384. But if the evidence does not clearly show that the misappropriation was due to impaired judgment, this Court has found the proper sanction is disbarment.

Respondent correctly notes that in imposing discipline for trust account violations, this Court makes a clear distinction between cases where the lawyer's conduct is deliberate or intentional and those cases where the lawyer acts in a negligent or

Weiss, 586 So. 2d 1051 (Fla. 1991)). Respondent contends that disbarment should not be the discipline in the instant case because there was not a specific finding of "intentionality." (RB p.15). It is his contention that the record negates the possibility of making a clear and convincing case of intentionality, since Respondent was suffering from a medically recognized disability, a trait of which is a diminished ability to think or concentrate. He reports that his illness of depression interfered with his performance of his accounting function (RB p.17), but not his ability to provide excellent legal assistance to the Freemans.

The conversions in question occurred between April 1988 and November 1989, and misrepresentations that the money was in trust continued until after January 1991. It is uncontested that Respondent was on anti-depressant medication from 1983 until 1988. Respondent purportedly discontinued his medication in 1988. Respondent then resumed the medication when he began treatment with psychiatrist Dr. Rawlings on May 31, 1990. (Depo. p.10, L.3-17). Based solely on Respondent's verbal reports, the psychiatrist concluded that Respondent was suffering from recurrent severe depression that might cause him to suffer forgetfulness or lack of memory, and to be emotionally impaired in his ability to practice law. (Depo., p.11, L.21-23; p.20, L.1-15; p.16, L.15-21).

In discussing his depression with the psychiatrist, Respondent advised that he was in a lot of debt and that his bills were considerable. (Depo., p.20, L.13-16). The psychiatrist felt the

Respondent had been forthright with him (Depo., p.24, L.16-19), which in actuality was not true. For example, the Respondent represented to the psychiatrist that pending Florida Bar actions had to do with an insignificant amount of money and were due to sloppy procedures (Depo., p.24, L.20-25), and that an accusation of misusing \$7,000.00 (not the Freeman money) was a matter of sloppy Not coincidentally (Depo., p.25, L.13-16). bookkeeping. Respondent had gone to the psychiatrist shortly after receiving a subpoena from The Florida Bar for his trust account records. When he made the statement to the psychiatrist about sloppy bookkeeping and an insignificant amount of money, not only was the \$7,000.00 being investigated, but in addition Respondent had to be aware that he would not be able to account to The Florida Bar for over \$10,000.00 of the Freeman trust account funds. Respondent's depression is understandable under the circumstances. At no point did he advise the psychiatrist that he had done anything wrong in dealing with his clients.

The psychiatrist related that depression could account for bad judgment (Depo., p.23, L.8-17), but also indicated that he saw no evidence that Respondent's memory for past events was distorted. (Depo., p.29, L.23-25). He did not say Respondent could not do simple mathematics or compare two numbers, one on a bank statement and one on a ledger card. Respondent claims that he did not intentionally use the Freeman money, that his mental condition caused him to not be able to do the trust accounting necessary to keep track of his funds. But as Respondent acknowledged, the

amount of money in his trust account during the time period in question was minimal. In fact, when he prepared a fraudulent accounting of the Freeman funds for the Bar Auditor, and when he advised opposing counsel the money was in escrow, the trust account bank balance statement clearly showed the money in trust was far below the amount that should have been escrowed for Freeman. (C's Exh. 21). He knew he had used the money. To conceal that use, he intentionally lied to the Freemans and Attorney Musial (RR, p.3), to Attorney Zahm, Attorney Siegel and The Florida Bar Auditor.

The facts support a conclusion of knowing and intentional misuse of client trust money. By February 21, 1989, the Freeman trust account balance should have been \$6,103.44. On that date, Respondent received an additional \$906.22 from the Freemans, but his trust account bank statement total balance showed only \$474.02. On April 28, 1989 he received \$1,203.00 more in Freeman trust money, bringing the total Freeman funds that should have been in trust to \$7,306.44, in a situation where only \$56.40 was in his trust account. (C's Exh. 22). No trust accounting ability would have been required to realize the Freeman money was being used.

To accept Respondent's position of an unintentional misuse of trust money, one would also have to believe that trust money was repeatedly accepted and then unintentionally used by Respondent during a time when Respondent knew opposing counsel was requesting the funds, even while he knew money previously received was absent from the trust account, and even though the bank statements showed the trust balance was far below the amount deposited. One would

have to accept that during a time when he was having financial problems, he received money to be placed in trust and unintentionally used it without ever placing it in trust.

months after Respondent resumed medication depression, Respondent was discharged by the Freemans in the bankruptcy case and contacted by the Freemans' new attorney, A. J. Musial, who requested \$10,229.59 that was suppose to be escrowed. Although Respondent knew that there was no money in escrow, he claimed to Mr. Musial that he was making a business decision to place a lien on the trust money and refusing to release it. Later, when Attorney Musial attempted to obtain the escrow money through court action, Respondent avoided an order for release by advising the court that he had a lien on the trust money, at which point the court declined jurisdiction over the matter. Again, he knew there was no Freeman money in his trust account and misled opposing counsel and the court. Also, it was after beginning treatment with the psychiatrist, and while back on medication, that Respondent presented a document styled "Escrow 90" to The Florida Bar Auditor. On that document, prepared by Respondent, he indicated that several different amounts received from Freeman had been "transmitted", thereby explaining to the auditor the absence of Freeman funds in the trust account. (To the referee in this matter, on December 1, 1993, long after he had been under the care of the psychiatrist, he explained that on the document Escrow 90, "transmitted" was not quite the correct word, that the document was misleading but was designed for his own internal use). In June 1990 when Respondent

advised Mr. Pizarro that his only account liability was for a total of \$720.00, the Freeman money was a trust account liability which Respondent had acknowledged to opposing counsel even prior to the Bar Auditor's visit.

Then by letter dated December 31, 1990, Respondent sent Mrs. Maras Freeman a list of escrowed deposits, totalling \$10,222.59. He did not advise her that he had converted that money. He did not replace it in the trust account. (C's Exh. 6, p.3). On March 8, 1991, Attorney Musial filed a Motion for Order Substituting Counsel and Directing Disbursement of Funds, and in that motion requested that Respondent turn over trust account monies which had been requested but not provided (C's Exh. 7). Respondent did not advise Mr. Musial nor the court that he was not in possession of the escrow money. He did not correct his misinformation to The Florida Bar. This was nearly a year after he resumed treatment for depression, and in spite of trust account bank balance being less than \$100.00.

As mitigation, Respondent attributes some of his difficulties to confused financial records, alleging part of the problem was created by frequent Bar audits, and by the Bar being physically in possession of Respondent's records. (RB p.11). Respondent also indicates that he was attempting to correct the record until the Bar impounded his files (RB p.18). Respondent complains that the Bar withheld the records, causing him to be able only to guess as to their contents (RB, p.19), which forced him to guess at the amount of money in escrow. However, Respondent acknowledged before

the Referee that he could have had his trust account records back if he had requested them (TR 2, p.58, L.11-23); further, his bank statement balance made the misappropriation obvious.

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